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ANNEX

A. Article published in "The Sunday Times" (London)
on 16 June 1977

Israel tortures Arab prisoners

Special investigation by INSIGHT

Tsraell interrogators routinely ill-troat end often torture Arab prisoners.

This central conclusion emerges from a five-month inquiry inte Israel's
occupation of the West Bank and Gaza. The methods used vary. Often there is just
prolonged beating - which could imply that there are merely z number of "rogue cops™
exceeding orders.

Insight has evidence, however. of technigues which go well beyond this, and
place [srael’s practice firmly in the realm of torturs. Frisoners are often hooded
or blindfclded or hung by their wrists for long periods. Many are sexually
assaulted. Others are given electric shocks, At least cne detention centre has
{or had) a specially constructed "cupboard"™, zbout two feet square and five feet
high, with concrete spikeg set in the floor.

All Israel's intelligence services are implicated, and it is implausible that
knowledge of these practices is confined to the interrogators.

Torture is sometimes used to obtain information, and it also evidently helps
to pacify the occupied territories. But one of its main purposes is to try to
Justify Tsrael's claim that it administers the West Bank and Gaza through the rule
of law., The Israelis claim that Arabs accused of "security offences’ are properly
tried. They are, however, often convicted cn their cornfessions and our
investigaticn indicates that many of these confessions are extracted through ill-
treatment extending to torture,

Israel has consistently denied allegations of ill-tresgtment and torture. Nine
days ago Gabriel Padon, Press counsellor at the Israeli embassy in London, said on
BBEC Radio's World At One:

"Every case of alleged torture or mistresiment is investigated very
thoroughly by the police and by the courts.,.. Scme cases have occurred where

the police was found to have used excessive zeal in interrogation...

"An insight Inguicy" - The Insight tesm has carried out a detalled inguiry in

Israeli-occupied territories into Arsb allegations and official Israeli denials of
the use of torture. 1In conecludes in part: “Torture of Arab prisoners is so

widespread and systewmatic that it cannot be dismissed as 'rogue cops' exceeding
orders. It appears to be sanctiocned as deliberate policy."
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"Israel is a country of the rule of law. There are procedures vhich are
the same procedures that are used in Britain in interrogation. There is
absolutely nc truth in the charges of torture, burning, electric shocks and
all these. This is £§7-very cood propaganda slogan but that is about as far
as it egoes."

Insight has questioned 4l Arabs who claim to have been ill-treated or tortured.
Most of them still live in the occupled areas and some are willing to be nsued. Ve
have tape recorded 110,000 words of testimony, and obtained corroboration wherever
possible., Because the findings contradict official denials the evidence is set out
in considerable detail in this issue of The Sunday Times., The report begins on
page 17.

The practices we have examined have occcurred throughout the 10 years of Israeli
occupation; our evidence spans this pericd, the last base being in December 1975,
There 1s no reason to belleve it has ceased: the allegations are continuing.

Prime Minister designate Menahen Begin is today signing a coalition agresement
with twe religiocus parties ending a month of fierce political haggling over the
formation of the first Likud-led government in Israel's 29 years of gtatehood.

Begin, 63, will then inform President Ephraim Katzir of the successful
completion of his Government-forming efforts, a week shead of schedule. He will
seek a confidence vote in the Knesset (parliament) on Monday.

Early on the morning of 24 February this year, a transfer took place at the

Alienby Bridge, the main crcssing point from the Israeli-occupied West Bank to the
Fast Bank cf Jordan.

An Tsraell army jeep drove to the centre of the bridge and pulled up., Several
Israeli scldiers climbed out, followed by an International Red Cross delegefte frcnm
Jerusalem, a young Swlss named Bernard Minger. Together they helped a frail figure
from the jeep and laid him on a stretcher, His name was Omar Abdel-Karim. He was
a Palestinian carpenter from the village of Beit Sahur, just below Bethlehem, He
wag 35 years old, bubt he looked an old man.

On the Jordanian side of the bridge a small group awailted Abgdel-Karim, It
comprised his brother; a Jordanian army liaison officer; and Jean Courveoisier, head
of the International Red Cross delegation in Jordan's capital, Amman. The Red
Cross men, Courvoisier and Minger, picked up the stretcher and carried it tc an

smbulance of the Jordanian Red Crescent (which operates in Jordan in liaison with
the International Red Cross).

As Minger walked back to the Israell jeep, Abdel-Karim tried feebly to wave
gocdbye. When an army man asked his name, his lips barely moved. To his brother's

distress, Abdel-Karim appeared not to recognise him. "I thought he was going to
die”, Courveisier told friends later,
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Abdel~Karim lived., At midday, he was admitted to the King Hussein hospital
at Salt, 25 miles Tfrom the bridge on the road to Amman. The case notes of his
initisal examination recorded that he was thin and wesk., He complained of pains in
the chest and found it hard to breathe out. He had an infection of the urinary
tract, He talked of severe head pains and showed gigns of giddiness. And his
difficulty in moving tended to confirm his complaint that his joints, especially
his knees, were painful too. Chest X-rays then showed that Abdel-Karim's ribs had
at some point been fractured. The houseman also noted that Abdel-Karim was in a
highly nervous state - and prescribed tranquillisers.

Abdel-Karim continued to bear the marks of having come through some traumatic
experience, however. When his wife Nijmi came to see him, he stared at her. "Who
are you?" he asked. It was some time before he showed signs of remembering her,

With the aid of antibiotics, multi-vitamins and a high-protein diet,
Abdel-Karim has slowly recovered, though two months later, he could still barely
walk,

He had been arrested, said Abdel-Karim, by the Israeli security forces four
months before and accused of belonging to the fedayeen, the Palestinian resistance
and terrorist movement. He had then, he said, bheen tortured. And the tortures he
recounted were so brutal, so prolonged and, gbove all, so organised and applied as
to leave no doubt - if his story were true - that systematic torture is an Israell
practice,

We were expecting Abdel-Karim's arrival. We had learned of his case in
January, while he was still in Israeli custody; and before his release we had
talked with his wife, his lawyer and the mayor of his wvillage.

For five months, we have been inquiring into allegations of systematic torture
by Israel of Arab prisoners, Such allegations have been persistent for almost g
decade, ever since the first weeks of the Israelil occupation of the West Bank and
the CGaza strip after Israel's victory of June 1967, The United Nations, Amnesty and
several individuals, have, at different times, made detailed examinations of the
evidence and have, in varying degrees, been disapproving of Israel. But virtually
all previcus inguiries have been vulnerable to criticism because they were conducted
outside Tsrael and the occupied territcries, without attempts at on the spot
verification. Even & speclal committee of the United NWations, a body not lcathe to
criticise Israel, has admitted dits dnability "to reach a conclusive finding, since
this would only be possible after a free investigation inside the occupied
territories',

For this Insight inquiry we have worked inside the West Bank and the Gaza
Strip, taking statements and examining stories there and going into nejghbouring
Arab countries, when necessary, to check those clsims further. We have guestioned
49 Pglestinian Arabs, who have been in the custody of the Israeli security forces.
Almost all are still living in the occupied territeries. Forty-four of them
elleged, in varying detail, that they had heen tortured.
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In 22 of the cases. the Arabs involved have orreed to be named, even though
they still live under Israeli military rule. In reaching our conclusions we have
given greater weight to these cases. The remaining cases where Palestinisns have
asked to remain anonymous, we have treated with great caution., though consistent
patterns emerge from these, too. Our conclusions are:

(1) TIsrael's security and intellipgence services ill-trest Arabs in detention.

(2) Scme of the ill-trestment is merely mriritive: prolonged beatings,
for example. But more refined technigues are alsc used, including electric-shock
torture and confinement in specially~constructed cells. This scrt of apparatus,
allied to the degree of organisation evident in its application, removes Israel’s

practice from the lesser realms of brutality and plsaces it firmly in the category
of torture.

(3) Torture takes place in at least six centres: at the prisons of the four
main occupied towns of Nablus, Ramellah and Hebron on the West Bank., and Gaza in
the south: at the detention centre in Jerusalem, known as the Russien Compound:
and at a special militery intelligence centre whose whereabouts are uncertain,
but which testimony sugpests is scmewhere inside the vast military supply base
et Sarafand, near Lod airport on the Jerusalem~Tel Aviv road. There is some

evidence toc that, at least for a time, there was a second such camp somewhere
near Gaza.

{4) All of Israel’s security services are implicated: the Shin Beth,
roughly Israel’s MIS and Specisl Branch in one. which repcrts to the office of the
Prime Minister:; Military Intelligence, which reports to the Minister of Defence;
the border police; and Latam, Israel's 'Department for Special Missions™, both of
which report to the Police Minister.

(5) Torture is orgenised so methodically that it cennot be dismissed as a
handful of “rogue cops" exceceding orders. It is systematic. It appears to be
sanctioned at some level as deliberate policy.

(6) Torture seems to be used for three purpcses. The first is, of course,
to extract informaticn. The second motive, which seems at least as common, is
to induce people to confess to 'security” offences, of which they may, or may not,
be guilty. The extracted confession is then used as the principal evidence in
court: Israel makes something of the fact that it has few political prisoners
in its jeils, only those duly convicted according to law., The third purpose
appears to be to persuade Arabs in the occupied territories that it is least
painful to behave passively.

It may be, therefore that the 22 Arabs we name are at risk of reaction in
Israel. The 22 knew and accepted this. We see no way to protect them except

by publicity, so we publish as an sppendix to this report, their names 2nd
home towns.
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The problems of checking

The case of Omar Amdel-Karim, the man sent over the Allenby bridge. 1s
typical for two ressons. Dils allegations differ little from those in scores of
previous cases. And the difficulties of checking what he says are, os we shall
show, no different either. Tirst, his story, recorded durins eisght hours of
questioning in mid-April. The phrase "he says” should mentally be added to each
assertion that follows:

Omar Abdel-Farim was arrested on October 3, 1976. as he was crossing
astward over the Allenby bridge. on his way to see his brother's wife in Amman.
iz was driven to the Russian Compound, known to Arabs as "Moscobiya’ - the
detention and interrogation centre in Jerusalem which houses Shin Beth and Latam
and occasicnally the border police.

Among the interrogators who guestioned him the same evening were two whom he
came to know as "Edi" and "0rli". They accused him of being one of the fedayeen.
When he denied this, they beat him on the soles of his feet. Later, for about
15 minutes. he was hung up by his wrists. Then he was sent to a cell in the main

prison block at Yoscobiya. Fis feet were swollen; he crawled there.

He was in Moscobiya for seven days. In later interrogations. he lay prone on
the floor and, while one man stood on his legs, another pulled his arms back.
Another time, & stick wag twisted through his handcuffs, cutting the blood supply
to hig hands. Ue still denied involvement with the fedayeen.

After a week, he was transferred in a closed lorry to another location -
he thought Sarafand. So far his treatment might just be described as “brutality"
rather than torture. But the new centre vas more purposeful. Except during
interrogaticn sessions, he was continucously hooded by a black canvas bag., TFresh
interrogators took over, though Orli was also there.

Electricity was now used. Two thin, black leads were taped to Abdel-Karim
with sticking plaster. These went intc a black box, presumably a transformer,
and from it & thick white wire was plugged into a wall socket. A bulton on the
box switched the current on. "It felt as though my bones were being crushed’,
Abdel-Karim said. "The most painful was when they attached the wires to my
testicles. When the current was applied, I felt it through my whele hody. After
the shocks ended, I felt pain in all my joints. Every muscle ached and T felt
that my perves were exhausted."

Abdel-Kerim says electricity was used at "eight or nine' sessions. But he
says he continued to maintain his innccence. After 11 days he was moved again,
to the prison at Hebron on the West Bank.

Edi and Orli were still with him, but yet more interrogators now joined in.
On his first day at Hebron, one named "Cuzi" kicked his face; when blocd from
Eodel~Karim's nose spotted his beot, Ouzi made him lick it off. Abdel-Karim
recalls the boot: “Thick, with & kind of grid on the soles, like a commando's.”

/v
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He zlso identifies one interropator as "Abu Ghazzl', & man with an
“Aleppo rose'’ on his cheek, a pitting peculiar to the Middle Last. Abu Ghazal
swong him round the room by his hair 2nd, when it came out, forced him tc
eat it. "It stuck 211 down my throzt. It made me want to throw up.” Then he
had to drink salty water. TFinally, Abu Thazal and a second interrogetor forced
a bottle up Abdel-Karim's rectum.

Thet was the first day. The second dayv, he says he was amaln suspendsd by
his wrists from a pulley and beaten. I felt scmething break in my chest. Then
I fell unconscious. 'hen I came to I was on the flcor and they were throwing
veter in my face.”

Tt was on the third or fourth day that Orli brought Abdel-Kerim's wife ¥ijmi to
the prison. 'When she saw me in such conditicn. she started screaming. Orli
grabbed her by the hair. IHe started slapping her face until blood came from her
nose and mouth ...  AbCel-Herim zeid he would confess.

"Orli said: ‘How we are friends.’ He pulled out a cirarette and handed it
to me. I took the cigarette and started smoking and he said: ‘flow talk.' £o
I had to start lying. I had nothing to tell and I had to save my wife., I said
I had bombs and I hid them in my lavatory. Vhen I said this my wife said: ‘llo,
I wag the one who put them there.® 1In fact there was nothing we had done but
she said she had done it to save me, and I said it to save her.”

fbdel-Karim was taken back to his home at Beit Sahur where sewage trucks
sucked out the cess-pit by his house. They found nothing. When it wes realised
he had lied, Edi repeatedly banged Abdel-Karim's head against a rough wall,
Pieces of plaster fell out and Orli told him to swallow them, which he did.

"If I had anything I would give it to you', Abdel-Karim kept telling his
interrogators. They did not believe him. e was kept under a cold shower:
Jaumed into a harrel of freeziug water: and suspended from his wrists once more
while the interrogator Orli squeezed his genitals. “The mind cannot imagine how
thet hurts. It wes so bad, it made me forget all the other pain.”

The last assault Abdel-Karim remembers is being shut in a small cell into which
some kind of gas was squirted through the judas-hole in the door. "I couldn’t
stop coughing. My eyves and nose were running. The whole world started turning
round me.'" He remembers ‘s picce of glass like a finger’ which was finally slid
into each nostril to ease his breathing.

From that point, Abdel-Karim's alleged recollections are confused and
fragmentary. We have established that at the end of Hovember, for example. he
spent a week in the main Israell prison hospital at Ramleh. He says he does not
remember this, Then on December 12, his wife Nijmi says, she and their 12-year-old
son visited him back in Hebron and he did not recognise the boy. He says he does
not remember this episode eitker. About this time, the Israelis took him to the
Jordanisn border:; but the Jordanians refused to accept him because no srrangements

/v,
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had been nade. Abdel-Karim says he Just recalls somethirg like that. Of nis
eventusl journey to Salt in Tebruary through the mediation of the Internuticnal
Fed Cross, he remembers very little.

IT I8 AN APPALLING story, but hov much of it is true? In the rnature of
torture. only two parties are present: torturer and vietim. £z frnesty International
has said: “The confrontation between the individusl and the limitless pover of
the state ... takes place in the darkest recess of political pcwer.” Failing
a confession by the torturers, we have to look for other things: corroboration of
verifiaeble details:; or the consistency of one account with cthers, in cirvcumstances

where collusion can be ruled out. By those tests, Abdel-Karim's story deserves
credence,

We had learned of his case, as we said, even before his release. The
independent interviews we conducted then went some way to corroborate his account.

Six weeks before Abdel-Karim's release, his wife Nijmi had told us - in an
interview at Beit Sshur - how she had been arrested and taken to Febron prison.
She and her husband had been beaten in front of each other, she said. Her face
had been slopped and her hair pulled. Her husband appeared "badly beaten on bhis
face end his eyes were swollen. There were burns on the back of his hands and
there were burns on his face as if made by an ircen or an electric fire."
(Abdel-Yarim later showed us, among other marks on his body, a flat scar on the
back of his right wrist. He sald it had been caused by the agpplication of
electricity, unmodified by & transformer, in Hebron. "They taped the wires to me
and then put the plug directly in the sccket. Tt just blew me away, and they had

to reattach it. Sparks came from my hand. The other equipment didn't cause
sparks.’)

Other interviews helped to corroborate Abdel-Karim's story. On HNovember 1L,
his lawyer, felicia Langer and her clerk Abed el-Asali visited Abdel-Karim in
Niebron prison. Langer subseguently wrote an account of the visit:

He was brought tc me supperted by other prisoners because he was unable
to walk by himself ... He was locoking very bad, his face wes completely
yellow ... All the tire he was pointing to his ribs, claiming he was unable
to breathe ocut. One of his fellow prisoners told us that his ribs had

been broken during interrcgation ... Owmar indicated to us that he had been
tortured by electricity and while speaking of it he started trembling
terribly ... It was as if his body was convulsed. ... He did not know

his age. place of birth, address, or whether he had children. Just once
during our vigit, he let slip that his wife had Teen beaten in front of him,

but then he stonped talking about it. It seemed tc us that he was in
another world.

In ancther interview six weeks before Abndel-Karim'e release, Langer's clerk
Asali confirmed her asccount, adding that they had seen Abdel-Karim suddenly start

/oa-
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laughing and kiss a prison guard. ''He said that the guard was the only cne who
didn't torture him ..." (Asali did not mention burns on Abdel-Karim but he did
claim to have seen "blue marks and red merks like blood nsar his ear.”) It was also
in mid-January, agein six veeks before his release, that we interviewed the mayor of
Abdel~-Karim's village, Hanna al-Atrash. He told us then how the Israelis had spent
several days draining the sewers around Abdel-Karim's house. His account of the
epigode agrees in general with that given te us later by Abdel-Karim - who could in
no way have colluded with him.

The mayor also told us that in late November, having heard from Felicia Langer
of Abdel~Karim's state, he went to see the Israsli military governor of the
Bethlehem district: "He zald he didn't believe the story, but he would look into
it.” He later told the mayor that Abdel-Karim had been moved to & priscn hospital.

The mayor also contacted the International Red Cross in Jerusalem: "I asked
ther to look into the allegations. Later the Red Cross delegate Bernard HMinger
confirmed to me that they were true. He confirmed Felicia Langer's letter
completely.”

As 8 matter of policy, the Red Cross never comments publicly on cases. The
chief Red Cross delegete in Jerusalem, Alfredo Witschi, said he could not confirm or
deny the mayor's statement. e make our revorts to the authorities and request
action’, he said. Similarly in Amman, Jean Courvoisier would confirm only that he
had med Abdel-~Karim on the Allenby bridge.

We have established, however, that the Jerusalem Red Cross delegate Minger first
got access to Abdel-Karim at the end of Hovember, about 55 days after his arrest. It
was about then - and so nossibly as a result of Minger's intervention - that
Ahdel~Karim was moved to Ramleh prison hospital., He was X-raved, but returned, after
a week to Hebron. In the lirht of his later condition - which Minger described to
doctors in /Amman as “lamentable’” and teo whiech the medical records at Salt bear
witness - this seems a strange decision. It 18 not surprising that Abdel-Karim
has the fondest memories of Minger, vhose continued efforts helped firnally bring
his release. ‘He saved my life”, Abdel--Karim says.

no% %
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The Arabs under Israseli rule

ABOUT 1.7 MILLION Arsbs live under Israeli rule. Half a million live withi.
the pre-1967 borders, and are Israeli citizens. The other 1.2 million live in areas
occupied by Israel during the 1967 six-day war - 800,000 in Zast Jerusalem and tie
West Bank {formerly part of Jordan), and 400,000 in Gaza (formerly administered by
Egypt). A small number also live on the Golan Heights, captured from Syria.

Israel ammexed Dast Jerusalem to "'reunite’ the divided city. The rest of the
West Bank and Gaza are administered by military governors, and basic policy is made
by Tsrael's Ministry of Defence - which has, for example, sanctioned about 80 Jewish
settlements in the occupied areas.

A degree of normal civilian life is permitted: there are Arab newspapers
(though subject to censorship), and last year municipel elections took place on the
West Bank., Beyond this, political organisation and activity is beanned.

Local jJjustice is administered by Palestinian Arab officials, who apply
Jordanian law on the West Bank, and British Mandate law in Gaza. (This is the same
legal system applied there by Fgypt from 1949 to 1967).

All “security offences”, however, are handled by military courts staffed by
Izraeli judges and court officials. Most allegations of torture and ill-treatment
involve border police and members of Israeli intelligence who arrest and interrogate
suspected security offenders before bringing them before a military court.

Member of the fedayeen

BUT IF THERE IS independent corroboration for points of Abdel-Karim's story,
there are also weaknesses which make it fall short of final proof,

In the first place, he was once a member of the fedayeen. Seven years ago, he
served a 20-month sentence for possessing & revolver. His lawyer, Felicia Langer.,
though Jewish and a refugee from the Final Solution, is an active Communist,
regularly denounced by the Israeli Government for political contacts with enemies of
the state.

Secondly, the medical evidence is not conclusive. It rests ultimately upon the
Judgements and testimony of the director of the Salt hespital, Dr. Ahmad Mamzeh. But
Dr. liamzeh is scarcely neutral., In 1976 the Israelis deported him from the West
Bank. His clinical judgements, too, are open to challenge. T finding Abdel-sarim’s
injuries '"consistent with' his story of torture, Dr. Hamzeh placed some emphasis on
his fractured ribs. Yet in February 1976, we have discovered, Abdel-Karim visited
the Mount of David orthopaedic hospital in Bethlehem, complaining of pains in his
back and chest., Hospital records show that an X-ray taken then also showed "evidence
of multiple fractures in ribs". Medical experts in London say that even if



Nydel-Karim's ribs had later been refractured, Dr. Hamzeh's X.rays might nol have
allowed him to distinguish between the two sets cof breaks.

It might be said that, in a country of avowed political freedom,
Felicisa Langer's politiecs should net debar her testimony. It could also be said
tnat old fractures were surely susceptible to fresh demage from beatings. Yet
doubts remain. And while we could corrcborate many points in their accounts,
Abdel-Xarim and his wife disagreed on one significant detail. He sald that his
wife was brought before him at Hebron sbout October 25 - and the detail of his
testimony leaves little room for error. She had already told us that the date was
Cctober 15.

THIS EBB AUl FLOW of evidence ils typical of torture allegations; and it
illustrates the persistent difficulties of proof. In Abdel-Karim's case, however,
one piece of external evidence strongly suggests that something which the Israelis

wish %0 hide did indeed happen to him. It comes from the Israelis themsslves.

The day he was sent over the Jordan and up to Salt hespital, Dr. Hammeh
contacted Reuters and told them of Abdel~farim's condition. A Reuters® reporter in
Israel asked the West Bank wilitary authorities for an explanation.

He was told that Abdel-{arim was a convicted Arab guerrilla and saboteur who
had fallen 111 in prison after serving three years of an ll-year sentence. Le had
asked the Israelis to let him go to Jordan for medicel treatment, and they had
agreed.

The story was a lie. bMedical records in Bethlehem show, as we have said, that
in February 1976 - a year befcre his release over the Allenby bridge ~ Abdel-Karim
went, a free man, to the Bethlehem orthopaedic hospital, and made several further
visits as an out-patient before his arrest. The mayer, Hannan-al Atrash, confirms
that the arrest was in October 1976. Tinally, we reproduce (page 17) the picture
of Abdel-Karim and his wife taken on their 13th wedding anniversary. It was taken

at the Photo-david studio in Bethlehem in the spring of 1976, The studio remembers
taking it.

Mistaken identity can be ruled out. Few convicted "guerrillas and saboteurs’
are invalided in mid-sentence over the Allenby bridge. Nor did the military
authorities sound confused. The point, however, ie not that they probably lied.
The disguieting point is that the officer who told the lie must either have been
ordered by his supericrs to do so - or else lied on his own initistive, knowing he
would not be punished if his superiors found out. Whatever happened to
Omar Abdel-Karim, in other words, was part of an officially-sanctioned system.

¥ o@ %



A/32/132
8/10356
Enslish
Annex

Page 11

The Jjudgement of the world

O THRE DAY after the United Nations had voted to establish the State of Israel
in doveuber, 1947, Chaim Weitzmann, Israel’s first president and, to many, its
founding father, wrote: I am certain that the world will judge the Jewish state
by what it shall do with the Arabs.” The dilemwa his. prophecy encapsulates leads
directly to the situation revealed by ocur investigation.

Israel is a Jewish state, determined to remain so. Yet it rules 1.7 million
Arabg - for a decade 1.2 million of these have been under military occupaticn.

The reasons why Israel has since 1948 steadily increased its dominion over
Arabs and their land go back into the infinite regress of cause-and-effect, charge
and counter-charge that makes up modern Middle Eastern history. That is outside
the scope of our inguiry. The fact is that mest Israelis see no choice but to
continue military occupation; while some Israelis actively want to do so, on the
grounds of historic Jewish rights to the land. '

Because Israecl is sc dependent on what Weitzmann saw as the judgement of the
world, it must try to ensure the judgement is favourable. The conflict between this
international need and the domestic reality of military rule and Arab resistance
expressed sometimes through terrorism seems to us the most concrete explanation of
why torture has become, on the evidence, an accepted Israeli practice.

There are, of course, many who will passionately reject our evidence as
literally unthinkable., Many more will find in the idea of a persecuted race
becoming in turn the persecutors a paradox so distasteful as to demand better
evidence than perhaps would be needed against other countries. Lven more will point
out that Israel claims - and undoubtedly feels itself -~ to be at war for its life;
and that the Arabs' record on civil liberties is, t0 s=zy the least, poor.

The point, of course, 1g that Israel itself does not, in theovry, accept the
unspoken implications of their argument.

Israel does not admit that torture is justified by its situation. It denies
that torture is ever used. Hor does Israel justify failures in civil rights by
comparisons with Arab deficienecies. On the contrary, it is fundamental o Israel’s
ethos and to its claims for international support that it is part of the West -
thus to be judged by Western standards. Israel claims as "a fact” - in the words of
an official Israeli observer to a United Nations Human Rights Commission meeting in
March 1973 ~ "that the humen rights of the civilian population /in the occupied
territories/ have been and are fully respected and protected .... The realities are
those of an open society, tranquil and relaxed.”

After o decade of military occupation, Israel has felt eble to state, in its
cfficial handbcok:
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“The administered areas are trancuil and thriving today .... Arabs end
Israelis who until 1267 had lived in mutual separation and estrangement, are
today enjoying the beginnings of a peaceful and fruitful co-existence.”

Since our thesis is precisely that the international need to maintain that
position goes far to explain the use of torture, it is necessary o begin by
outlining Israel’s response to the problems of "co-existence'.

ON THE WEST BANK, Palestinian reaction to the Israeli occupation has run
throvgh three phases. Phase One: active resistance from mid-1967 to the end of
1969. By the end of 1969 raids on border settlements had almost died cut.

Phase lwo from wid-1970 brought relative gquiescence. With the crushing of
Palestinians in the "Black Septerber” struggle in Jordan, and the death of
President Nasser, the activists looked abroad: to the Munich Olympics of
Septerber 1972, for instance.

Phase Three can be traced back to the Israeli raid on Beirut in April 1973,
when it seized thousands of documents. On the basis of these, the West Bank, and,
significantly, Galilee, within Israel's cld borders, saw fresh waves of arrests of
suspected fedayeen activists or sympathisers. The unrest these sparked - largely
in the form of civil disorders and demonstrations by high school students - has
ebbed and flowed but never really died, With continued Israeli settlement on tne
vWest Bank, and Palestinian suicide raids like those on Kiryat Shmonsa, Mazlet and
Beit Shean, feeling between the two communities has steadily worsened.

In Gaza, the seqguence has been different. With 300,000 refugees crammed into
camps alongside 100,000 native CGazsns, the area is one of the most overcrowded in
the world - and perfect guerrilla country. Active resistance continued there until
mid-1971 when it degenerated into a mini ecivil war between rival Palestinian
factions. Israel bulldozed wide roads through the camps as the first step towards
their pacification and control. By mid-1972 the fedayeen were crushed.

Israel has never denied that its battle against the Palestinian resistance has
involved tough messures. It has demolished homes (16,212 between July 19G7 and
August 1971 according to an independently-kept log) and deported "known agents of
subversion” (1,130 to Jordan since 1967 according to Jordanien police records)}. But
it points out that the Arabs have free municipal electicns and enjoy better
standards of living than Arabs in Egypt, Syria and the Lebanon, and that it uses
punitive measures with restraint.

AGATINST THIS background, Israel has confronted the hardest problem for any
occupying power, its treatment of resistors and terrcrists, In 1976, it claimed to
have broken up 91 sabotage rings and arrested 807 people connected with them.

Lven before its 1967 victory, Israel had prepared an administrative structure
for territories to be occupied - and a system of military courts. But the round-ups

/oo
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of late 1987 and carly 1968 swamped the system. PFaced with similar problems in the
Mandate days, the British resorted to detention campg - one near Tel Aviv; one in
the desert near Caza. (Arabs and Jews alike still refer to them as "concentration
camps’, conditions were apparently dreadful.)

The idea of the Jews of all neople reviving “concentration camps” was rejected
in erotionszl debates in the Israeli parlisment. There was no alternative to
cvercrowding the jeails of Israsl and the occupied territoriss with detainees. In
the months after the 1967 war, the nurber held without trisl passed 2,000. By
early 1070 it was still 1,923.

But, slewly, the military courts caught up. Graduslly, almost all Arabs picked
up in nevw swaeps ~ and most of those held from the early days - were convicted by
the military courts of ‘security offences" ranging from membership of an illegal
crganisation, distributing leaflets, or daubing slogans, to possessing arms or
cormitting sabotage or murder.

Ten years after the occupation, Tsrael has (on the latest published figure) only
37 detsinees. But nearly 60 per cent of all prisoners in jail in Israel or the
veceupied aress are Arabs found guilty of security offences - some 3,200 cut of
5,800,

Thus Israel can demonstrate to itself and to the world that it has no political
prisoners - only convicted terrorists. As Israel's ambassador to the United Hations,
Jacob Doron, asked in a speech last November: “What is wreng with the holding of
triels and the conviction of those found guilty after due process of law?"™ The
answer is: when those public convictlons are gained by neans of secret torture.

The military courte are the fulcrum of Israel's claim to rule the cccupied
territories according to the rule of law. We have talked with six lawyers -
two Isrzells and four Palestinians - who regularly appear in them to defend those
accused of sgsecurity offences. Tor the record, their names are: Felicia Langer,
Lea Tsemel, Wasfi O. Masri, Anton Jaser, Zlias Khoury and Fayez abu Rahmeh. Their
unanimous opinion is that the military courts collude in and knowingly conceal the
use of torture by Israel’s intelligence and security services. The mechanism is,
in its way, elegant, almost syllogistic. Most convictions in those courts are based
on confessions by the accuzed; most of those confessions, the lawyers are convinced,
are extracted by ill-treatment or torture; almost without excepbion the courts
reject that contention.

A security suspect in the occupied territories is usually arrested by Israell
soldiers or border police, accompanied mostly by one or more men in civilian clothes.
Most Palestinisns we spoke tc referred to the plain-clothes men as Shin Beth,
Israel's internal security service. (Tn fact, we have learned they are just as
likely toc helong to Israel's military intelligence.)
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The suspect can be held for up to 18 days before belng taken before a military
Judge. He can order further detention of up to six months., In this time the
suspect i interrogated. Vhen eventually he is brought to trial - up to a year
later - the prosecution is alwmost invariably equipped with a statement, signed by
the suspect, confessing to at least some of the charges.

Israel says that all confessions are voluntary. The six advocates we have
spoken to do not believe this. Wasfi 0. Masri, a 60-year—old lawyer from Nablus, and
a senior judge under Jordanian rule said: "In 90 per cent of cases T have, the
priscner had told me that he was beaten and tortured. Of course it is very difficult
to prove hecause they don't have witnesses to see them beaten. But I am certain
that it happens.”

The military courts usually have three military Jjudges - of whom only cne must
have been qualified, through six years at the Bar, to become a civilian Jjudge. The
Military Regulations they apply are based to some extent on regulations drawn up by
the British in 1945 - to counter mainly Jewish terrorism.

But it is not in the courts that the crucial manceuvre takes place. The courts
do indeed allew defence counsel to challenge the wvalidity of confessions. When that
cccurs, a "little trial” (in Hebrew, a zuta) is held.

This is what happens. The defendant tells the court that he was ill-treated
or tortured. The prosecution then produces the policeman or army officer who took
the confession. According to the young Israzeli-born advocate Lea Tsemel, the officer
tells the court: ™I sat with the suspect, we had coffee together, T gave him
cigarettes, he talked freely, and everything was normal.” And this officer is
almost always telling the truth,

The catch 1s that the policeman msy indeed have taken the statement. But he
did not conduct the interrcgation. Many of the former priscners we guestioned said
that after they had agreed to make a statement they were passed from interrogators
te the pelice, together with a note of the offences they were admitting. The new
officer then composed the statement for the court.

Several had tried to change their minds about confessing. One,
Shehadeh Shalaldeh of Ramallah, protested for instence, that he could not read his
supposed confession because it was in Hebrew. (This is a common complaint.) "The
cfficer left the room and twe men in civilian clothes came in., I told them I wanted

to know what T was signing. They said, 'we haven't got time for all that' and they
started besating me. BSo I said ‘ckay, okay, I'll sign'."

It is almost impossible for defendants to bring their real interrogators ta
court, because they use Arab names - '"Abu-Semi," "Abu-Jamil," "Abu-Daoud" - or
nicknames like "Jacky,” "Danny,” or "Ari". Even if the defendants did succeed,
the result was the same. Lea Tsemel told us how she had finally brought to court an
interrogator her client had described. "He just looked at the defendant and said
he had never seen him before in his life.”

/oos
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Successful challenges to the validity of confessions are rare. Wasfi 0. Masri
is much admired by other advocates for having persuaded military courts to rule out
confessicng in five cases -~ from a total he estimates as "thousands", Lea Tsemel
sald she had "almost succeeded once".

Her veal role, she explained, was plea hargaining., One of her clients was the
only survivor of a band of infiltrators who had been shot down by an Israelil
patrol, 'He told me he had suffered very bad torture and he wanted to protest in
court. The prosecution offered a deal. If I did not contest his confession they
would ask for a maximum of 18 vears. As he could have got life, I advised him to
agree,"

A Palestinian advocate from Gaza, Fayez abu Rahmeh, told us that he had decided
not to take any more security cases: "I told the Israelis, I have had encugh. I
told them they should just go back to internment and end this farce.”

The gquestion, therefore, is what happens in those secret interrogation
cegsgions?

3
e
e



A/32/132
$3/12356
English
Annex
Page 16

The story of Chassan Harb

Ghassan Harb is a 37-year-cld Palestinisn intellectual and jourralist from
Ramallah, on the West Benlk ter miles north of Jerusalem. Om the night of
April 21-22 19T7h, he and his wife were stayine with his father-in-lew there. &Shortly
after midnight, they were woken by half & dozen Israeli soldiers and twe men in
civilian clothes. One of the civilians told Harb to get dressed.

Mihat is the matter?” Harb aslked.

“You will find out,” the man replied. Harb was handcuffed, bhlindfolded and
bundled iato a vehicle which took him to Ramallah prison.

What happened to Ghassan Barb over the two months that followed has already
excited international attention. UWhen his case was raised at the United Nations
last year, Israel's ambassador there, Jacob Doron, dismissed it as “typical of the
kind of atrocity stories swmread against the Isrvseli administration by certain
elements™.

What he meant was that Hart was a Communist. It is true, however, that both
sides, Israel and its accusers, have disterted the Harb case - in part because the
key witness, Harb himself, was uwnavailable. For twowand-a-half vears after that
midnight visit, Harb was detained without trial.

Only on January 18 this year was he velessed and sent home. BScon aftervards,
we recorded for the first time his own account of his experiences. Harb struck us
as an excellent witness: careful, restrained, guestioning his own impressions and
enxious to find points that mirht be verified. This, in essence, is his story:

For the first 5C days, nothing happened to him., He was punched and kicked on
his arrival at prison and, still blindfolded, heard others getting the same
treatment. But then, after three nizhts in a small cell with six other prisoners,
he was moved to a larger room containing 40 men. As the days passed, the others -
most of whom had been arrested on the same night as himself - were taken for
questioning. After six, seven or sometimes 15 days they would return "in very bad
conditicn™, he says. ''"They had been beaten. You could see the marks on their faces
and chests.” Strangely, they appear to have talked very little. It was not until
June 12, 51 days after his arrest, that Harb's ocwn turn came.

He was bilindfolded again and made to lie down in what he thinks was a jeep for
a2 journey of two or three hours. When the jeep stoppned at last, and Harb zot out,
still blindfelded, a heavy cloth hag was put over his head. After perhaps 30 or
40 minutes just standing there with his hands in the air - "when there are bad
conditions, perhaps a person thinks that the time is longer than it really is," Harb
adds cautiously - he wasz taken into a recom, and both blindfolds were removed. A man
in civilian clothes addressed him in Arshbic.

/eun
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Do you know where you are?’
Mo, Tarb said.
"You are in Kasr el-Jihaye.®

That is the name of a prison in Baghdad, the capital of Irag, notoricus for its
tortures and secret executions. Harb knew he was not in Irag. DBut he also lknew
whet Kasr el-ilihaye mesns: The Palace of the End. And he knew what his interrogator
reant.

Haxb lesrned that he had been arrested becauvse, as an admitted Communist, he
was suspected of complicity in armed resistance on the West Bank. He had joined
the Communist parity as a schoolboy in Ramallah, then part of Jordan. The Jordanian
Government had banned the party and in 1957 Harb was arrested. He was 1T7. With
cther party members he spent the next eilght vears in prison.

An amnesty finally released hiwm and, during the 1667 war, Harb was studying
econonics at loscow university. He returned to Remallah in 1972, to work for the
Arab newspaper EBl-Fajr, published in Jerusalem. He wrote and spoke against the

Tsraeli occupation.

These cetivities may have irritated the Iesraelis but none of them was illegal.

As Israel's ambassador, Jacob Doron, said: "Nobody is in prison because of their
political beliefs.” Israel permits Comrunists to stand for electicn in Israel
itself.

On the West Bank, however, all political parties and their activity are
banned, and knoewn Comtrunisis are kept under surveillance. This has been especially
20 since 1973 when the West Bank communists and the Palestine Liberation
Orgenization decided to form an alliance, which they called the Palestine Naticnal
Front. OSince Israel regards the PLO as a purely terrorist orgenisation it soon saw
the Front in the same lisht. On the night of April 21-22, 1974, it moved apainst the
I'ront. Harb was arrested.

At the United Nations, Ambassador Doron said afterwards that Israel had only
"arrested those against whom there was evidence of criminal offences™. But most of
those arrested in the sweep were never charged. We know of nine men - cne of them
Harb, and eight of them avoved Communists -~ vho were apparently feken to Tsrasl's
own Palace of the [nd. Three were deported tc Jordan in 1975; two more were allowed
to return to their West Bank homes in 1976; Harb and another were released this year;
twe are st11l in prison. Wone has ever been tried, let alone convicted.

That does nct, of course, prove that none had committed an offence. The
secretary of the Jordanian Communist party has been gquoted as saying that his West
Bank comrades had indeed been active. The fact remains thet Harb denies involvement
in any criminal activity, and no evidence has ever been producad.
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I+ is necessary to spell this out only because Ambassador Deron has dismissed
the allegations which follow as "an attempt to arouse public opinion and to cover

up the crimes committed”. Ie, therefore, uses the assertion of unproved crimes to
brush aside the allegations of torture.

The underlying issue remains: Bven if Harb and his comrades were guilty,
how were they treated in Israsel’s Palace of the End?

won #
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Ordes)l in the "cupboard”

On Harb®s account, bis first meeting with his interrogator there ended
abruptly. “We know you are against the authorities:; tell us everything you know,”
the interrogator said., Harb replied that he had no information. VALl right,'" the
interrogator said, "You don't want to speak.” He gestured to the puards, who wore
soldiers’ aniforms. "Take him", he said.

In another room, Harb was made to strip, given a military~-type overall, and
photographed. Then he was brought bhack to his interroeator. He was to see him
many times in the next 10 days.

"He was stout, rather dark-skinned but not black. Black hair, no moustache.
His hair was a little curly. T don‘t remember if he had a parting or not.' e
was, Hark thinks, about 170 centimetres ~ 5 ft., 7 in. - tall, and between 32 and
40 years old. “He spoke Arabic with a Syrian accent.” FHarb recalls that he always
wore civilian trousers and a short-sleeved shirt.

The first beating begen at once. “He sat on a table, I was on a bench and he
began to beat me. Fifteen minutes, 20 minutes, beating with his hand across my

face,” Harb says. (Agein, Uarb warns that he may exagperate the tiwe.) Only one
guestion was asked: Do vou want to speak?” Harb repeated that he had nothin~ to
say .,

At the end of that first session Harb, blindfolded once wore with the bag, was
led away. IHis handcuffs were remecved, he was stripped of his overall, his hands
were refastened bebind his back and, naked apart from the ber over his head, he was
pushed into what he felt was a confined gpace. The door shut. Despite two air holes
in the top of the bag, Hard feared he would suffocate, so by sliding nis head
against the wall he removed it. He found himself in a tiny, windowless cell, the
cnly light coming from a crack under the door.

Tt was really just s cuvboard,” he says. He thinks it was 60 cms (2ft.)
sguare, and no more than 150 cms (5ft.) high, "I am 178 cms and I couldn't stand
up in it.” Nor was it possible to sit down.

But the most curious feature was the floor. It was concrete, and set into it at
cloge but irregular intervals was a set of stone spikes, "Thev were sharp, and they
had acute edges. They were perhaps one-and-a-nalf or two centimetres hiph. T cowld
not normally stand on them. I could stand on them but with difficulty -~nd pain.

I would 1ift one leg and pul the other down, and then 1ift that one when it ot
tired and put the other down, and so on."

Harb thinks he spent three or four hours in "the cupboard” on his first
occasion - though he cautions this may be an over-estimeste. But his release from
the place brought no relief,



A seldier undid Harb's handeuffs to let him dress, then
front of him. Because Haro had pulled off h is hood, he was
ted again, this time with "some kind of spectaules, cloth
les made of a black material™. Tha bag was then put over these Harh vas

acl
ed into what he thinks was an open courtyard, for furthef treatment.,

"mhere were three or four of them. I judged that by their voices. They were
beating me, and then they said: 'How go down on your hands and knees.' There were
llttlp stones in thz yvard, end they were very painful to cravl on.” (Particularly
painful for Her®t, he has bone deformities protruding frow his inees.)

“mhut centinued for about an hour, perhaps, I was crawliing around on the ground
and they were kicking me dpa peating me Whnile T was crawling around they rode on
e, gat on me like a horse.”

When Herb was at ]ab+ brought to his interrozator once mores, the man said
"Jow ses your condition.” FHe then punched Harh repcatedly, while he and =2 seco nﬂ
interrogetor asked questions,

“They said: 'Do vou know this person, that person ...' mentioning names, T
sald T addn’™t ... One of them said I was accused of military charges znd I told
them Mo, no', He said: 'We kXnow you are active in this field', and I said: 'A1l
right, 1f you know I'm active show me some evidence. I know it jsn't true. If you
have some evidence, please show it to me.' He said, 'We know, we know', and he kept
on beating me."

THAT WAS the first day. Iventually, according to Harb, he was locked into a
eell and alleowsd to sleep. In the morning, the routine began again ~ and again
almost without variation over the four days that followed. ‘Cupboard courtyard,
interrogation, cell - though not always to rest. The routine could start at any
time of day or night.

SQometimes durirng the beatings in the courtyvard, Harb would be stripped: “'They
took me ocutside, took my clothes and there were four or five people. How one kicks
me, the other receives me, and gives me to the first - as a ball, kicking to and fro.
Afterwards they let me crawl. T was Stlll without clothes of ccurse. GSomebody
zat on my hack, and they were laughing.™

On another occasion, Harb was made to crawl, bizarrely, into a dog kennel, less

than two feet square. The dog was not in it, but Harb could hear it howling
nearby.

Harb also heard the sounds of other prisoners: ™On one occasion in the very
early pcrlod they took me to the cupboard at night ... at perhaps nine or
twelve ofclock. Then I was taken outside and I heard scme voices, sounds of pain,
crying, pleading., ‘oh my head.' '0h, my stomach.' ‘'You are killing me.' OFf
course I couldn't see who were the people who were groaning, but I heard it."

/ovs
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Certainly, the centrs anpearsd to be staifed to handle
Retween June 19-15 - the five days of intensive cussticning 5 i
by 8ix or seven different men. all in civilian clothes. The iJWTlaﬁ wag not alweys
among them. or was violence always used - though when it was, it was severe. A4t
one point, Harb says, nis feelt vere beaten with a stick.

After those five days, hovever, his treatrment cased. Jle was interropated for
another 12 days, but the Je;sions bocame nore relaxed and discursive, and he w
spared the "cupboard” and e them

ne courtyard., ''I don't know 1f T nhad convin
had nothing to do with nilitery chavpes™, Harb

On what he calculates was June 28, llarb, still tlirndfolded, was driven from
the cantrs to Yosur nrison outside Haifa in novthern Tsrasgl, Five or six other
prisoners went with him. At Yaspur, Harb besan the CGetenbion frow which he was
released in January this year.

ISRAEL DENIES that Narb was tortured, Its most detailed rebuttal was siven by
Aubassador Doron in 2 speech at the United Faticons last Noverber, after a report by
a "special committes” of the United Hations on the occupied territories had

mentioned Harb's case anong others.

The lawyer Felicis Langer had brought seversl of these cases to the United
Wetions; so Doron first attacled her Lredibility° “"a member of the politburesu of
the pro-Moscow Communist party™ end “en active propagandist ssainst the state ...
devoted to the slander and denigration of Israel®

Farb, Doron continued had been detained for investigation of his “subversive
activities on hehalf of a terror orgenisation™., As goon as his alleg tlon% of
torture hed wecome kpown, he had heen exemined by two doctors who | nd "found
absolutely nothing wrong with him™. An Arab delegetion from his home town,
Ramallah, had a2lso been allowed to visit him; they too, Doron said, had cezen
"satisfied that he had not heen mistreated in any way . As to the substance of
Ifarb’s charszes, Doron sald that after "impartial dnquiries” which the Israeli
guthorities had themselves instituted, he could state that no torture had taken
place. “Nobody's held in prison bl}nalolded and tied up.”

The other parties involved In those inguiries have different recollections I%
was only a dsy or so after Marh had left the interrcgation centre that his wzfe
Afaf visited him in Yagur prison. She was, she says, horrified: "Fe looked
terrible. He was pale and exhausted, and he hed lost a lot of weight.

Her report of what she had seen and vhat her husband told her caused unrest in
Ramallsh. Harb's family is well known locally: and Harb's own writings and sneeches
hed given him a reputation. Seeing this, the Israeli military povernor of Ramallah
ordered Harb's transfer from Yagur fo the local nrison,
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It wag on his arrival there that Harb was exemined by two Israeli doctors -
perfunctorily, Harb claims. ILe was also interviewed by a delegate of the
International Red (ross, to whom he wmade a formal complaint of torture. And, as
Doron sald, he was allowed to meet a Jocal deputation: the deputy mayor of Famallah
and his own brother.

We have talked to both men. Contrary to what Doron claimed, both say they did
think Harb had been nmistreated. His TLrother ssys Harb leoked 111, had lest weight
and showed sipns of ill treatment, ineluding scars. The deputy mayor of the time,
a lawyer uamed Alfred Kisek, recalled: "He told us he had been tortured. He
didn't seem as bad as I had heard, but he looked i1l and we believed that he had
been ill-treated.”

What of Israel’'s "impartial inquiries” into the case? Early in July, as
unrest grew over the allegations put about by Harb's wife, the police minister,
Shlomo Hillel, announced an inguiry - under s police officer. Harb was taken to
Ramslleh police headquarters to be guestioned. It was, he says, a cursory affair,
The resultant statement was no more than 500 words. (By contrast, the transcript
of our detailed questioning of Marb totals 11,000 words.) The policeman also

guestioconad Langer's six other complainants. By early August, he had presented his
report. It dismissed the allsgations.

Langer fought back., With another lawyer, Whalid Fahum, she filed a complaint
in the Supreme Court in Tel Aviv alleging that the inguiry had been inadequate and
the minister, Hillel, delinguent in his duty. Technically, therefore, the court
could only examine the narrow procedural issue. But the lawyers, of course, hoped

the court would consider the wider issue of the allegations themselves. And this
the court duly 4id,

Tts procedure was so shrange, however, that at the very least considerable
doubt must be cast on what it found. No witnesses were called. Wo fuller statements
were taken. The court said it limited itseli "to choosing between the conflicting
clajms of the prisoners and the investigators as submitted in writing”. On the
strength of medical reports which "did not show any signs of intentionally
inflicted injuries'" it chose to believe the investigators. On December 18 the
complaint against Hillel was dismissed.
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The pattern of torture

P

The allegations of the 4bh Palestinians who told us they had been ill-treated
cr tortured covered all of Isreel's six main interrcpation centres, shown on the
map. Some general patterns did emerge: 19 told us, for example, that their genitals
had been hit or otherwise abused. But from these accounts it was also possible to
discern the apparent predilections of interrogators in different centres (and we

found this picture confirmed by examination of some 50 gtatements from other
sources ),

At the "Bussian Compound” in Jerusalem, interrorators tanded to favour assaults
on the genitals, begides endurance tests such as helding a chair with outstretched
arms oy standing on one leg. The speciality of the military centre Xnown as
Sarafand was to blindfold prisoners for long periods, threaten them or assault them
with dogs, @&nd hang them by the wrists. From Ramallah came manv allegations of
having been immersed in cold water for long periods - either in a shower, or in a
vocl in the centre of the prison courtyard. Ramallsh was almost alone, on the other
hand, in giving rise to no allesations of electric shock torture. From Hebron came
several allegations similar to that of Omar Abdel-Karim - with whose account our
story begins - of anal assault.
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The Arabs who wave their narmes

IHSIGHT interviewed U4 Palestinians who allered ill--treatment or torture at the

hands of Israel’s security gervices., OFf those, 22 still living under Israeli

Jux “etion . apreed to their nares heina published. They are: Ghassan Harb,
Ramallah: ¥oharmed abu--Chabivr, Tast Jerusalem: Jamal Freitah, Tablus;

Yaldoun Abdul Yag, Nablus: Mahpud Fl-Mughrehi, 014 City, Jerusalem {since Deing
interviewed he has heen re-arregted and lg currently servine a six-month sentence
in Dimour TPrison, Israel): Tesan Hemmad, 01d City, Jerusalem: Fshak "'lefavi,

Tast Jerusalem: Samir Edbeidek, PDast Jerusalem: Omar Salameh Abdel-¥arim, Biet Sahur,
near Bethlehem; Joseve 0deh end his caughter, Leila, Jericho: Jamil abu-Ghabhiyr,
Tast Jerusalenmt Fawzi Ahdel-Tahed Mijdim, Tl Musazi refugee camp, near Faza:

Zudnir Al-Dihi  Meblueg: Vahlen Fyeishr, a student at Bir Zeit Collepe near Ramalliah:
Zhehadeh Anhdel Hadi-Mohammed Shalaldeh., Ramallah: Isam Atif Al Hamoury, Febron:
Ahed Al~Kareen Taha Al-Shalloudi, a student at the UNPVA Vocational Training Centre
at Kalandia: Ag=d Sinnckrat, a student at Rir Zeit Collere; Misief Suleiman Atrash
Lo -Atwen, Douras Naifa Awawdeh, Doura: Fayer Toutunii, 0lad Citv, Jerusalem.

ree other Palestiniane who thoush not alleging torture provided corrohorative

e 2lso agreed to be nemed: Fassan T1 “ughrabi {(father of Mahmud el Mughrabi),
v, Jerusalem: Taha Mossalha, student at the Hebrew University,

Tegt Jerusalert Khalill Rasmawi, Beit Sahur. near ERathlehem.
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Four steries in support

WE X0V, as we have said, of eight other Palestinian Arabs who appear to have
ween in the special interrogation centre at ahout the same time as Farb., Two are
still in custody, but of the six who were freed ve ftraced and interviewed four.

Mohamred abu-Chabivr,
Jamal Freitah,
Kaldourn Abdul Wag.
Husni Haddad.

mly Haddad was in exile in Jordan. (He died in Amman in May this vear: we
retain the tape of our interview with him.} The other three still live, like Farb.
on the West Bank. lone was ever charged.

Tn view of what they say, it is important fto consider whether these four and
Harh could have colluded their accounts.

Harb and three of them were certainly together for some days in Yagur.
immediately after interrogstion. But then thev were snlit up, and onlv two served
in the same priscon (Faq and Freitah in Mablus). Haddad had not been in Yapur with
the others, but he saw Harh for a few days in Ramallah when he was taken there for
a hearing to extend his detention.

This pives the theoretical pessibility that the five men could have conspired
toc fabricate a storv. DBut only during those days at Yapur could a story have heen
cooked up - to be passed to Haddad latey. And there are two further points. After
his deportation to Jordan, Haddad had no chance to meet the others. Seceondly, we
first interviewed two of those still on the West Bank -~ Hag and abu-Ghabivr -
vithout any warning and before the final pair, Harb and Freitah, had been freed.

We questioned them only days after their release.

In our view these facts and the weight of detail the men volunteered 30 months
after their experiences argues reality rather than scme long- remembered
fabrication.

These are their stories:

. Mohammed abu-Chabiyr, a shoemaker from Jerusalem, spoke of the interropation
centre as a '‘military camp® where the guards vore 'soldiers® uniforms”. FHe too was
stripped, photographed and given a one-piece overall in camouflage colours. He too
talks of being blindfolded with "a black bag made of very thick cloth” with two
air holes in the top. He too was blindfolded the whole time except in his cell or
under interrogation. Like Harb he described = "stony courtyard”, and mentioned the
presence of dogs,

fone
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Earh, asked to estimate the layout and size of the centre, said that he could
aot 70 8¢, hecause he thoupght he had bheen led everywhere in cireles. Chabiyr,
asked the same question, repiled: T couldn't tell. The problem was they used to
walk me in cireles., ...~

+ Jamal Freitah, & labourer from Nablus, talked of "a prison uniform” and a
“bag of black cloth owver his head. Ile spoke of cravling naked over gravel; during
that ordeal, he added, his eves were covered with an extra blindfold under the bag.’

At least once a day, he said, he was put into what he celled "the frigidaire™:
Tt iz about 60 cms by A0 cms by 160 ems high.. The concrete in the floor was made
in a way that it looks like small hills near to =ach other with very sharp edges.
Bvervore of them is like & nail.” '

+ Kaldoun Abdul Haq, a pertner in a Wablus construction company, spoke of being
stripped, chotographed and given "a camouflage overall”™ to wear. His blindfold was
"a hlack sack made of cloth” with “two holes in the top to let air in". He talked
of a courtyard - he called it “a place in the open air" - where, he said, he was
hung by his arms from a hook in a wall. And he remembered a tiny cupboard - ‘the
floor was covered with very sharp stones which were set in cement™. '

* Husni Haddad., at the time of his arrest a factory owner in Bethlehem, was
siven a khaki Jjacket and trousers rather than an overall. But the “black canvas
sack™ with the two holes was unchanpged. 8o was “a sort of garden” with "gravel
underfoot’’, where he was cnce made to crawl and kicked as he did. He too remembered
a cell 50 ems by 50 cms by 150 cme, the floor of which had spikes "like people’s
thumbs” but with sharp edges. '

fven mundane details in Harb's account were confirmed by HTaddad. Both men
sald that the first interrogation room had instructional charts showing weapons on
its walls. Both said that a strange noise disturbed their sleep. Harb talked of
“sounds of engines, whirring”. Haddad spoke of “a kind of hissing noise from an
engine, or maybe a buzzing noilse”. The plastic plates, the absence of cutlery,
the plastic bucket for a lavatory, the lack of lavatory paper ... scores of detalls
match in the five accounts,

There were also inconsistencies. Hag, for instance, recalls the courtyard as
heing “like the soil” and denies there were stones or gravel. And the ill-
treatment alleped varied in type and extent. Freiteh alleped almest continuous
beatings and abuse. Ghabiyr said he was hardly touched. {Perhaps the reason was
that Ghabiyr has a history of tuberculosis and, at his arrest, was 111 with a
stomach complaint. )

Takineg the evidence as a whole, however, we conclude that it amounts at least
to a strong prima facie case that in 197L Israel maintained an interrosation centre
adrministered by the army, where suspects were hooded, continuouslvy handcuffed,
deprived of sleep and other human amenities, and systematically subjected to
physical and mental suffering.
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Yhere is this interropation centre., this "Palace of the T
answer is that it lies behind the hiph wire Ffence that all Towr1s
drive the last stretch from Jerusalem to ]el Lfviv., The wire, the
checkpoints at a counle of sntrances, and a few low soruffy bull
distance are virvtually all thet is visikle of the 10 sonare milas
bigrest army ordnance and suapoly derot, Sarafond. {The Jewiun o
part of Sarafand to house the eouipment for readhuildines in
ments 1n fsyael and the ocounied tervitories. )

A

Sarafand occupies a prominent place in Palestinlan demcnclopy. Scores of
statements talk of it and wost of those vwho have heen throooh the intevrsomsiion
centre refer to it avtomatically as Sarafand. Rubt that is an assunption on thelr
nart, as ouestioning soon shovs.

There are., nevertheless., historical reascons why thev could
was built as the main Rritish ordnance denot in Palestine before
When Pritain then needed twe camps to house Arsh detainees during the w131u of tha
late 1930s, one was built inside Sarafand. (The other was in Sipai.) So many of
the old British mandate buildings were taken over, function and all, by the
Israelis that Saralfand would have been a logical cholce to house a2 new reneraticy
of Arabh detainees.

For it iz ¢lear from detainees’ accounts that the mysterions
centre run by the military came into oreration after the 1667 = ik
another three vears or zo before its buildinps - reamshackle at firet,
disused for a time - had been renovated., (Some detainees, taken there at
intervals., observed the process. )

The assertion that thev were in Sarafand comes mogst confidently from those
early alumni, Yet each in turn seers to have learnes this only from i
already there. Only one claimed to have seen a sipn Sarafand prison”™,
thought this imnrohable.

1zthes

In those early years, hlindfolding was less rigorouslv enforced, and a few
detainees caught glimpses of thelr surroundings. Oune recalls a euchvu ns
But after 1970, continuous blindfolding and isolation shut out even those
fragments,

Detainees could still hear, of course, and manv speak of sircraft cverhsad.
Sarafand lies below a flight path into Lod airport five miles away. DBub while
some spoke of low-flying heavy alrcraflt - which sugrests sn airport nearby
others sald thay had been high. (Because theirs is the less nredictable testimony,
the high~fliers seem preferable witnesses.)
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So completely have the Israelis managed to isclate those under interropation
since 1970-1971, in fact, that the only evidence that the centre d4id not shift to
some new locale then comes from two prisoners who, having been there before and
after, that perind are confident they were in the same place both times,

But when we tried to metch those few early topographical details with those
from Herb and the others arrested in 197h, we could not declde if they related to

the same nlace. Wor was Hard or his comrades prepared to assert that they were in
Sarafand.

"NDthers said it was Sarafand,” Harb recalled., "But T don't know.” Because
it was so hot there, Harb tends to believe he was in "the southern part of Israel”.
{Rut he lived in the cool hills, and all the Tsraelil coastal plain is hot in June. )

Misni Haddad agreed with Harb. I was a driver and I knew the roads,” he said,
and he thought that on the journey from his home in Bethlehem the jeen had turned
south before reaching Sarafand. Haddad also said that near the end of his stayv at
the centre, the shutter ocutside his cell window slipped.

He saw fast traffic on a main road about 150 vards away, he said. That is
roughly the distance from the road to the bulldings visible at Sarafand. But
Yaddad thousht that a high proportion of the cars he saw had light prey number
plates, which indicates Gaza registrations. He helileved, therefore, thal the
centre was sowmewhere close to the Gaza strip.

a
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Limits on the Red Cross

Terael commonly cites the International Committee of the Red Croszs in its
defence. At the United Nations last MNovember, for instance, Amhassador Doron said:
"Following his imprisonment, particulars of each security prisoner are sent to the
International Committee of the Red Cross.” This categorv of prisons, he said,
‘even enjoy some additional privileges, e.g. visits by the representatives of the
TCRC ... on these occasions, they may talk with each prisoner without witnesses™.

Ambassador Doron did not mention two impertant noints. The Red Cross has
indeed been able to visit prisons in the occupied territories since 1968, (Isreel
there; but it is allowed in.) Throupghout those nine years., however, the Israslis
have consistently forbidden the Red Cross to see nrisoners undergoing
interrogation. WNor did Doron say what we know from unimpeachable sources to be
true: over the last nine years, when Red (Cross renragentatives have got to
prisoners in jails, they have heard story after story of ill-treatment and torture.
And the Red Cross has filed hundreds c¢f notices to the Israeli Covernment pointing
this out.

The Internaticnal Committee of the Red Cross has, of course, won its right to
operate by promising Governments to remain silent. Tts delegates, all Swiss,
undertake never to talk of their work. Ue have, however, learnad from impeccable
sources of the problems the Red Cross faces in the cccupied territories.

The Red Cross is not immediately notified of arrests. Often it i1s the
families or lawyers of prisoners who contact the Red Cross - and ususlly they do
not themselves know where the prisoners are now. The Red Cross then tries to trace
and get to the detainees as swiftly as possible - especiallv if there are any
grounds for suspecting ill~treatment. Put the delegates face three obhstacles,

They have access only to prisons, not to police stations or military camps.
Hor Ao they have unrestricted access even to prisons. Attached to prisons in the
occupied territories are sets of cells which the Red Cross cannot see. Some are
outside the prison proper, attached to the lacal military governor's office. But
inside Meblug jail, for example, the special cells - krnown there as "Xecells” - are
to be found on the south side, near the solitarv confinement cells.

These remain under the control of the security services, and the Red Cross
has no access.

Hor, for the first eight vears of occupation, could the Red Cross visit
any prisoners in the holding and interrogation centre known as the Russian Compound
in Jerusalem. And it has no access to the seeret interropgation centre where Harb
was held.
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Moreover, W hours pefore a vprison visit, the Red Cross submits to the
prison authorities a list of prisoners it particularly wants to see. Tt sometimes
then happens that when the delegates arrive, they are told that the prisoner in
auestion has just been moved to another jall. The delegates covering that jail
promptly add the man to thelr list. If thevy in turn are told that the prisoner

has arain been moved - a process described to us as playing paper cames” - their
concern inevitably increases,

S0 the Red Cross may onlv get to nrisoners after a search and rarely if ever
wntil interrosation is ovar. Severzl witnesses told us how Red (rossz delegates
greeted them when they finally met. "JTive heen looking
delepate allepedly said. Another apparently remarked:
will he zafe.’”

for you everywhere, one
“Fow T have found you, you

How often does the Red Crogs then hear allegations of ill-treatment? The
Red Cross, of course, will not say. But our impression is that while beatings are
commonly mentioned, more elaborate 1ill~treatment is allesed by half the prisoners
or less. Wot all of these decide to make formal complaints.

Iwen a formal complaint is made = which the Red Cross then transmits without
comment to the Tsrasli authorities - the Red Cross rarely learns officially if there
has been anv action as a result - or even 1f there has been an inguiry into the
cormlalint. Over a period of six monthes delegates may notice that complaints
about a particular form of treatment are diminishing: or discover that a particular
interrogator has been transferred. That ls all,

Only for five months, throush the summer of 1269, did the Red Cross persuade
the Israelis to let its delegates sce some of those under interrogation -~ and then
only in priscns, not military camns or police stations., But then the Israeld
authorities changed their minds. The Internaticanl Committee of the Red Cross
subsequently renorted: “Fven thoush its delegates thousht that there had heen
gome improvement in interropaticn conditions, the ICRC considered that the visiting
procedure now laid down by the Israelil asuthorities no longer permitted it to ensure
thet interrogation methods at variance with humanitarian law did not occur.’

That was in September 1970. 8Six vears later, after reports in Israeli
newaspapers that the Red Cross was gatisfied with conditiong, the ICRC made another
of its rare public statements. (The Red Cross says it does this only when it feels
its policy of silence is being exploited or asbused.) On January 12 this year, the
Red Cross said that "a nunber of problems which have heen raised regularly bv the

ICRC have not been solved.” And it pointed out that it was still not permitted to
visit "those underzoing interromation’™.

fon.
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tn amssertion of pover

Tnterrogation, of course, is cnly one of the ends of ill-treatment or forture.
Il1l-treatment may also deter a rebellious monulace. For that, however., a degree of

openness is reguired - a gemi-public agsertion of power. That is one possible
explenation for what happens in the Russion Compound in Jerusalen.

The NRussian Compornd vwhich srrawls over sevaral acves in the heart of
Jerusalem just north of the 01d city, derives its nmame from its original use as a
hospital for Orthodox pilprims. Inside its walls today are a prison. a repalr
depot for nolice vehiclen, petrol vumme and two rows of singlewstorey bharracks.

Fich of the compound is open to the public: Dharrack number two issues driving
licences and ldentity cards. But Fg four, six and eleht house the Jerusalem
outnosts of Israel's civilisn security services, includine - in Rarrack Four - the
section called Viotim, the departrent of mirorities. Its boss is an Ifragl Jew
named Naim Shabo.

mlike the rest of the capbured territoriesg., east Jerusalem has been not
merely occupied by Isroel but effectivelw annesed - and its 20,000 unwilling Arah
citizens with it. Miotim's job is te cope with the subversive elements’ among
thenm.

A few minutes after 3 p.m. last December 15, Hedva Sarid walked into Parrack
Four. She is the secretary of the Israeli-born lawver Lea Tsemel, whor she had
arranged to meet there. 1 looked for a secretary in the rgpertﬂon office, b g
ncbody was there. Then I heard a shout -~ I think ‘halam® /ﬁraowﬂ for Pimme
The door of an office a little Further down the corvidor was half-copen and T 100“9*
inside.

"There were some men - five, six or seven - arcund someone whe I recognized as
a c¢lient of ours. They were all talking to him at the same time. In the middle of
shouting at hiw, one of them - a mar with srev halir - swung his leg and kicked our
eclient in the genitals. The client cried out and folded over. He held his renitals
and he was crying.

“T started shouting at the men. They came and pushed me away and shut the door
behindg them. T saw the man with grey hair and I shouted at him: I saw you kick

that Yoy, T want yvour number: that's illegal.’

“He ssid: 'I em the head of this fepartment. My pame iz ¥aim Shabo. “That
do you want here?’” They pushed her out.

/ueo
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Hevda Sarid is not the only person who claims to have witressed violence in
the Russian Compound. An American charity worker whose business sometimes takes
him up there recalls seeing, last year, a man, clearlv in a dazed state, brought
out of Barrack Four, led around in the fresh air for a few minutes and then taken

back ingide. On another visit, he saw a man led across the compound bleeding from
the nose and wouth.

Lea Tsemel’s client, whom Hedva Sarid says she saw being kicked, was a youth
called Yahmud el-Mughrsbi. At 16, he had already been pickec un a dezen times, and
he was clearly reparded as a trouble-maker. Mughrabi save us g detailed account
of how he was beaten at the session Hedve Sarid interrupted. His stery is in part

corroborated by aznother vprisoner, though Mughrabi's additional allegation of
glectric shock remains unconfirmed.

Mughrabl was one of 24 Palestinians we interviewed who had heen interrogated

in the Russian Compound - "Moscobiva®™ the Arabs call it. Twenty-two said they had
heen ill-treated or worse.

Like the allegations involvina the prisons of Ramallsh and Hebron or the
secret interrogation centre, those relating to the Russian Compound consigtently
specify a range of abuses which is Toth limited and by and large peculiar to that
place. At the Russian Compound, these centre on sexual assault.

Wine of those we interviewed spoke of having had their genitals beaten,
gqueezed or twisted. Consistently, they said this was done mostly from behind,
while they stood, naked and with legs apart, facing a wall.

That 1s vnusual is that Miotim makes little apparent effort to concesl at
leazt these more common assaults. Indeed, it seems to go out of its way to
demonstrate its power over east Jerusalem. While most of those in its hands are
arrested in night raids, for example, many are simply summoned by pro forma letter.
It talks of an interview, but Miotim's reputation among Palestinians is such that
the recipients automatically expect worse.

HMost of those summoned accept it is pointless trying to escape, though., So
they turn up as requested, and frequently just disappear into detention. No
notification is given to their families.

Mughrabi's experience, in other words, seems fairly typicel of what Mictim
has taught “trouble-makers” to expect. But the Russian Compound has, like the
"Palace of the Fnd", interrogation and confession functions as well. For what
havpens there to those suspected of knowledese or complicity in more serious
offences seems te be altogether harsher.

In assessing those allegations, however, we were fregquently driven hack to
gauging from long interviews what Ammesty calls the "credibility and motivation”
of a witness. The testimeony of Josef Odeh, for example, is terrible - though by
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No means unigue. It sguares with the pettern thrown un by other testimony: and sone
corrchoration is available, But the most impressive aspect was Odelh’s manner in
giving 1t.

Odeh’s allegations oo back to 1865 when his daughter Raswiah, then aged 21,
was given two life sentences forp Lerrorist offences which included the nlanting of
two hombs which killed 11 people.

Oceh says that it was around 1 a.m, on February 24, 1069, when Israeli soléiers
burst into his home, then in Ramallah, and arrested him and his three daughters -
one 73, one 1T and Rasmish. They were taken to the Twussian Compound.,

His testimony bears out what the later prison sentences areue: that *he
Israelis were from the start, really interested in Raswiah, According to Odeh's
account, during his 20 days at the compound, the interrogators srranged a seriea
of confrontations between memhers of the Tamily, seemingslv, as a pressurizing
device.

Once, he said, he was kert in one room while Rasmiah was beaten nearby: “When
they took me back ... Rasmiah couldn't stand on her own Ffeet., She wasg lving on
the floor and there were blocd stains on her clothes. Ier face was blue and
she had a black eye. Then she was picked un by two soldiers, and at that moment

I started crying and screaming and they blindfolded me and I think she wasz then
taken away, "

As his recital continued, 04ch hecame visibly distressed. He began to breathe
rapidly and the muscles in the side of his neck were twitching. We asked him
when he next saw Rasmiah, and he began to cry. At last he said to our interpreter:
"I wish I hed died rather than see this thing ... It's a question of horour ... It's

all right, interpret, why not? What is there to tell? They held her dovm and
shoved up a stick.™

Yhen he could go on, he said that he had been taken into an interrogation room
to find Rasmish naked and handcuffed. One of the interrogators, he said, "asked
me to sleep with her, and I said: ‘Don't even think of that. T would never
do such a thing.' They were beating me and beating her and we were both screaming.
Rasmiah was still saying: T know nothing.' Ana they spread her legs and shoved
the stick into her. She was bleeding from her mouth and from her face and from her
end. Then I became unconscious," ;

“All IMPORTANT element in determining Amnesty's reaction to any evidence'éia
torture/,"” the organization has written, "is the government's readiness *o
investigate allepations and to punish any offenders.”
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Israel's UJ explanation

INTERNATIONALLY, Israel's response is exemplified by the assertions glven at
the United Wations last Noverber by its ambessador there, Jacob Doron: "My country
can proudly stand by its record of scrupulously observing the rule of law in the
administered areas." Israel, he said, showed a "liberal and enlightened attitude,
including the candid admission of any mistakes that may have been made and the
efforts to correct them,,.,"

Poron admitted those mistakes: "Tt is true that in cne cr two cases, which
are completely excepticnal, force has been regrettably used against prisoners. One
of these exceptional cases unfortunately brought about the death of
Ahmed Sheikh Dahdoul .,,."

Dahdoul was beaten to death by soldiers in = militery vehicle in March 1976
while being driven to Tulkarm police station 20 miles northeeast of Tel Aviv,
Doron described the aftermath: "The rule of law is strictly applied by the Israeli
authorities ,.. no favouritism is shown by the authorities or the courts. The
officer in question has since been Tfound puilty and was sentenced to g long term of
imprisonment, "

When Dahdoul died, the Israeli authorities anncunced that he had done so of &
heert attack, This was challenged by the Arab doctor vho had treated him, Despite
considerable uproar, the truth did not begin to emerge until four months later when
the authorities suddenly told Dahdoul's lawyer - once apgein, Felicia Langer -~ that
an officer would be charged.

lio evidence has yet been publicly produced that any trial occurred. It was
allegedly in a military court., FEut it was held in camera. Mrs., Langer was not
permitted to send an observer, let alone participate, Wo action has vet been taken
against the scldiers who actually did the beatings (though the Attorney General
has recently announced that they will now be filed). Uor were any depositions
ever taken from the other Arab prisoners in the truck with Dazhdoul., The authorities
merely anncunced that g major had been reduced to the rank of private and jailed for
two years. To this day, Israel has refused to name the scldier or ssy where he is
serving the sentence,

Last December, Dzhdoul's family at last got an order from the high court for
a transeript of the trial. Two months ago, the military court responded by saying
that 1t would allow only Mrs, Langer to see a copy - and then only if she agreed
not to copy it or to write enything about it, Mrs. Langer refused, The battle
te see the record of this particular "candid admission" continues,

50 do the allegations.

foue
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E. Tditorizl from "The Sunday Times" of 19 June 1677

Israel and torture: A case for concern

SEVERAL pages of this issue of The Sunday Times are devoted to the results
of our inguiries into alleged meltreatment by the Israeli authorities of Arabs in
the occupied territories of Israel. Such coverapge requires a special expleanation.
It is unpleasant reading; that is inescapable by the nature of the subject. Tt is
long; that is inevitsble if we are to set out the evidence properly and not merely
publish assertions and denials,

The aim is to present the reader with the materisl on which we based our own
judgment that Israel has been covering up ill-treatment and torture of Arab
prisoners before they are brought to trial, As it is, we have published the
minimum necessary for this purpose. We have in the form of transcripts of
first-hand interviews ten times this amount of testimony with varying degrees of
plausibility.,

The subject merits such intensive treatment in our view, because respect for
humen rights must be indivisible, and because Israel occupies a speclal place in
our world. Israel itself has always made justice, the rule of law and the fair
trestment of Arsbs central to its claim to nationhood. It was founded in
idealism following oppression and this is one of the emotional obstacles: few
pecple are prepared to believe that Israelis, as members of an ancient community
which has for centuries been victim of persecution, are capable of persecuting
others. There is all the more reason that when allegations are made and persist -
there has been zn increase in them in the past year - they should be taken
seriously and examined in detail,

The detailed evidence The Sunday Times has collected will be made avallable to
any properly constituted international inquiry - that farce of a body the
Ul Commission on Human Rights will not do. But of course the best result would be
an end to the practices we describe. The Israelil authorities know we are
publishing this inquiry, but we have not presented them with the detalls for three
reasons., The first is that the bulk of the sllegations is known to the Israeli
authorities and/or the courts who have rejected them in circumstances we find
unconvincing and we say why in the course of the report. The second is that
though a number of Arabs have agreed to be named cthers invelved would agree to be
identified only to an international tribunal; and a few were frightened even of
that.

The third, frankly, is that we are not prepared to accept simple new assertions
that there is no truth in any of it. Israel has for years successfully resisted
cutside inquiries into these matters and particularly into allepations of torture.
It has been helped by the fact that many of those making the inguiries have been
obviously biased and one-sided - for instance the UN Commission on Human Rights
which repeatedly attacks Israel and South Africa but is shatteringly silent over
Uganda.

fou
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This, though, only demonstirates the Commission's partiality; it does not
necessarily mean 211 the testimony it has heard is false. Israelis frequently,
and with justification, complain of a double standerd ocperating agasinst them in
international affairs. In some cases, such as the present one, 1t operates in
their favour. Internsiionsl bodies which are prepared to air allegations of
ill-treatment of priscners made against Latin American, Asisn and African countries
hesitate to do s0 against Israel and there hss been similar reticence in the Press
and in particular in the Israeld Press,

In o free society, the Press operates as a safety vaive for grievance and
complaint, but Israel's Press, normally so vigorous and outspoken, has not taken
up The challenge of finding out Just what is going on in the interrogation centres.
The newspapers have until recently piven little coverage to the West Bank and Gaza
(with the excepticn of Haaretz) and rarely refer to the allegations of
ill-treatment except in giving denials, The military govermnments cf the West Bank

and Gaze have therefore had a free hand in enforeing law in the occupied areas.
g P

Israel's conduct in the occupled lands has dezerved more serutiny than it has
recelved in ten years; but it now assumes a profound new importance, There is g
new government in Israel. The outpoing government at least held out the possibility
that the wmost densely populated areas of the West Bank might be returned to Arsb
rule in a peace agreement, though it has continued to build Jewish settlements,

Likud, the party of Mr. Henzham Begin, makes no such offer, Tt is committed
to maintain Israel's rule over all the West Pank and Gaza, adding another million
Arabs to the half million who are already Tsraeli citizens. Mr. Begin says they
will have equal rights with Jews $0 long as they accept they are a mincrity in a
Jewish state,

Apart from disbelief, two other responses tc the sllegations are certain.
The first is that very few if any of the Arab countries would emerge unstained from
& comparable inquiry into methods used there by police and prison authorities,
Many, indeed, would fail to rass any westernised tests of civilised practice. The
second is that outsiders should have Some understanding that Israelis feel
besieged and under the provocation of Arab terrorism., In such circumstances, the
argument will run, ends Justify means: +to extract from suspects a confessicn,
followed by conviction in the courts, is so important to the stamping out of
terrorism that it takes priority over everything, human velues included,

Both points can be met. Torture must be condemned wherever it is practised.
But in the occupied lands of Israel the people are dependent on internationsl
protection and only respect for international conventions can help them. Secondly,
though surrounded by enemies, Israel has not had to contend in recent years with
massive internal violence on the Ulster or Algerian pattern.

But the justification of torture for the contrel of populations cannot be
accepted by nations with claims to western values, whatever the provocations. It is
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inhunene. It is self-defeating. At the minimum it strengthens the resolve of
those who think of themselves as oppressed. It demoralises those who practise ity
58 che French in Algeria had resson to lesrn. And, most important, an apologia
like this does less than justice to Israel's own stendards. Mr. Bepin, who Is
shout te become Prime Minister, suffered in a Russisn prison in his youth, had a
price on hisz head under the Dritish, and hes written with preat emotion in
condernation of Dritish methods of interrogation and trial of his comrades in the
Trgun Zvai Leumi underground orsanisstion in the 19L40's. Unless his convictlons
have chianged, he cannot be satisfied that since 1667 Isreel has used against

Arzb prisoners the British mandate laws and regulations he so bitterly cencunced.

Finally, it will be s=2id, of course, that to publish reports of torture and
ill-treatment is to strike at the very heart of Israel's existence, The opposite
is true, Israel has to live in peace with Arabs, It seems unaware of the deep
strength of feeling against continued cccupation., Certainly the occupation has
brought some material benefits to the Arabs, but the deprivation of human rights
is pravely poisoning its relationships with those people it must not only subdue
now but eventually live with as neighbours. In the long term a just peace 1s
essential to Isreel; and some kind of basic trust is essentiazl to that. Torture by
Israel (like terrorism by extremist Palestinians) undermines trust, is an obstacle
to peace and by extension weakens Israel's prospects of survival,

Six years ago Wwe published a report on interrogation on Northern Ireland which
led to the banning of those vractices by the British Government, and the removal
of a little of the poison in Anglo-Irish relationships. The report we publish today
will, we hcoe, cause Lsrael to rethink its occupation policies and remove a little
of the poison between Jew and Arab.



